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Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission,				     C-2009-2135942
Bureau of Transportation and Safety

		v.

Yellowbird Bus Company, Inc.


OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:

		Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition is a Settlement Agreement (Settlement) entered into between the Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff (LBPS) acting on behalf of the Commission’s Bureau of Transportation and Safety (BTS) and Yellowbird Bus Company, Inc. (Respondent) for resolution of allegations regarding violations of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 101, et seq., and the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §§ 1.1, et seq.

History of the Proceeding

		On January 30, 1984, the Respondent was issued a Certificate of Public Convenience (Certificate) at Docket No. A-0010440, which authorized it to provide group and party and scheduled route service, between points in Pennsylvania.  The Respondent also provides non-jurisdictional school bus transportation service.

		On February 26, 2009, Commission Enforcement Supervisor Alex Zinczenko (Supervisor Zinczenko) performed a compliance review at the Respondent’s facility in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  During the review, five violations were noted, which resulted in the issuance of the subject Complaint.[footnoteRef:1] [1: 	 	The Complaint did not reveal that a February 13, 2009 bus accident precipitated the compliance review.] 


		Pursuant to its enforcement responsibilities, BTS initiated the instant Complaint which alleged that the Respondent: (1) failed to maintain a Driver Investigation History, in violation of Section 37.204(3) of the Code and 49 CFR § 391.53(b)(2); (2) permitted its driver to drive one additional hour after being on duty fifteen hours, in violation of Section 37.204(3) and 49 CFR § 395.5(a)(2); (3) failed to require its driver to prepare a record of duty status and maintain true and accurate time records, in violation of Section 37.204(6) and 49 CFR § 395.8(a); (4) failed to maintain minimum records of inspection and maintenance, in violation of Section 37.204(7) of the Code and 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(1); and (5) failed to require its driver to prepare a driver/vehicle inspection report, in violation of Section 37.204(7) of the Code and 49 CFR § 396.11(a).  BTS sought a combined civil penalty of $1,700 for the violations.

		The Complaint, which was served on the Respondent on December 9, 2009, advised the Respondent that it must file an Answer to the Complaint within twenty days of the date of service of the Complaint.  In the event that an Answer was not filed, BTS would request the Commission to issue a Secretarial Letter which imposed a civil penalty of $1,700.

		On December 18, 2009, the Respondent filed an Answer (Answer) to the Complaint, which contested the findings in the Complaint.

On October 6, 2010, the Parties filed a Settlement Agreement (Settlement) and urged the Commission to approve the terms of the Settlement as being in the public interest.  As previously noted, the original civil penalty requested by BTS was $1,700.

	In the Settlement, the Parties agree to settle the allegations of the Complaint and stipulate as follows:

		1.	The Respondent agrees that it committed,
		or permitted to be committed, the allegations
		contained in the Complaint.
		
		2.	The Respondent agrees that the audit was
		not conducted at its request, but rather upon
		the initiative of BTS.

		3.	The Respondent asserts that it has now
		completed a Driver Investigation History for
		Robert Atkins and will maintain such records
		for all drivers.

		4.	The Respondent asserts that it has
		implemented controls that will prevent drivers
		from exceeding the maximum hours permitted
		on duty.

		5.	The Respondent asserts that all drivers
		will properly prepare and maintain appropriate
		records of duty status.

		6.	The Respondent asserts that it will perform,
		or cause to be performed, appropriate inspections
		and maintenance of its vehicles and will prepare
		and maintain, or cause to be prepared and maintained,
		appropriate vehicle inspection and maintenance
		records.
		
		7.	The Respondent agrees that it will comply
		with Federal law and regulations, the Code and the 
		Commission’s Regulations and Orders in the future 
		and will also take appropriate steps to ensure
		future compliance.

		8.	The Respondent agrees to pay a civil penalty
		of $900 within ten days of the date of entry of this 
		Opinion and Order.

		9.	The Respondent agrees that further violations
		of the Regulations cited in this Complaint proceeding
		or of other Federal laws or regulations or of the Code 
		or the Commission Regulations will constitute 
		second or multiple violations.


					Discussion

Pursuant to our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  The Commission must review proposed settlements to determine whether the terms are in the public interest.  Pa. PUC v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket No. M-00031768 (Order entered January 7, 2004).  Before addressing the merits of the proposed settlement, however, we must address several preliminary issues. 

	In response to the Complaint, the Respondent filed correspondence signed by Robert Hicks, on behalf of the Respondent.  Mr. Hicks is the President of the Respondent.  Since Mr. Hicks is an officer of the corporation, the Answer was properly executed.

The Settlement is executed by an attorney from the LBPS, on behalf of BTS, and by the President of the Respondent, on behalf of the Respondent.  As stated above, our Regulations provide that a pleading, submittal or other document filed with the Commission must be signed by an authorized attorney or, if the entity is a corporation, by an officer of the corporation.  52 Pa. Code § 1.35(b).  We find that the Settlement Agreement was properly executed by the Parties.

	The Parties assert that the Settlement should be approved for several reasons.  The Respondent agrees that it violated the Code and the Commission’s Regulations, but it also avers that the violations were not committed in a willful manner.  BTS, for its part, agrees to reduce the proposed civil penalty from $1,700 to $900.  Adoption of the Settlement by the Commission would avoid the cost of further litigation of this matter.

	After a review of the terms of the Settlement Agreement, we are satisfied that the Agreement is in the public interest.  We further find that approval of this Settlement is consistent with our Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201.  The Policy Statement sets forth the guidelines we use when determining whether and to what extent a civil penalty is warranted.  In this case, application of these guidelines supports approval of the Settlement Agreement as filed.  

		Initially, we examine whether the conduct and the consequences of the conduct are serious.  We note that the Respondent did not engage in any willful fraud or misrepresentation or other conduct of a serious nature.  It appears that the Respondent mistakenly believed that it was performing appropriate inspections and maintenance on its vehicles, that it was appropriately investigating and documenting the driving records of its employees, that its drivers were not exceeding limits on duty hours or required rest periods, and that appropriate records were being prepared and maintained.

		Additionally, there were no consequences of a serious nature in this case.  The accident, which occurred on February 13, 2009, and which gave rise to the investigation that resulted in the issuance of the Complaint, did not cause serious or permanent injury to persons or property other than to the vehicle owned by the Respondent.

		We also review whether the regulated entity has made an effort to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and to prevent similar conduct in the future.  We note that in April 2010, the Respondent sent one employee to the following classes: DOT Compliance Overview and Audit Survival; Driver Qualification File Workshop; Hours of Service Workshop; Maintenance Management Workshop; Accident Reporting, Countermeasure, and Investigation; and Train the Trainer Workshop.  Additionally, that employee and another employee have also completed the DOT Compliance Class Supervisor Drug and Alcohol Training.  The training is designed to ensure full compliance with Federal statutes and regulations, the Code, and the Commission’s Rules, Regulations and Orders, as well as reduce the potential for future violations.

		We also consider the number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.  In this case, while several passengers were in the bus that was involved in the February 13, 2009 accident, none suffered serious or permanent injury.  The Complaint does address, inter alia, the hours that the driver involved in the accident had driven on the day of the accident.  However, the Complaint does not address the accident itself, but rather addresses the records that were reviewed after the accident and found to be deficient.  These records encompass more than the one driver and one vehicle involved in the February 13, 2009 accident.

		On the issue of Respondent’s compliance history with the Commission, we note that since its certification in 1984, only four complaints have been filed against the Respondent.  LBPS is of the opinion that the Respondent’s operations overall do not indicate a propensity to disregard safety or legal obligations.

		Finally, we consider whether the amount of the proposed civil penalty is sufficient to deter future violations.  The size of the utility may be considered to determine an appropriate penalty amount.  LBPS submits that the agreed upon civil penalty of $900 constitutes a reasonable and appropriate resolution of the Complaint, when coupled with the training that the Respondent has undertaken and with the commitments that the Respondent has made herein.  In view of the above factors, LBPS agreed to reduce the proposed civil penalty from $1,700 to $900.

		LBPS also noted that the Respondent has cooperated throughout all phases of this proceeding.  We find, on the record before us, that $900 is a sufficient amount to deter future violations.  Moreover, we note that the Respondent has satisfied the Complaint by submitting the $900 civil penalty in October 2010.

Conclusion

It is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  52 Pa. Code § 5.231.  The Parties herein have provided the Commission with sufficient information upon which to consider thoroughly the terms of the instant Settlement Agreement.  The Settlement Agreement effectively addresses the issues which arose during the course of this proceeding and avoids the expense of litigation and the possibility of appeals.  The Respondent agrees that, in the future, it will take all appropriate steps to avoid misconduct and noncompliance with the Code and the Commission’s Regulations.  Accordingly, we find that the proposed Settlement Agreement entered into between BTS and the Respondent is in the public interest and merits approval; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

	1.	That the Settlement Agreement entered into between the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff and Yellowbird Bus Company, Inc., filed on October 6, 2010, which resolves the above-captioned Complaint, is approved.

	2.	That the Complaint at Docket No. C-2009-2135942, is sustained to the extent outlined in this Opinion and Order.

3.	That Yellowbird Bus Company, Inc. shall cease and desist from any further violations of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 101, et seq., or this Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §§ 1.1, et seq.

	4.	That a copy of this Opinion and Order shall be served on the Bureau of Transportation and Safety. 
	
	5.	That a copy of this Opinion and Order shall be served on the Office of Administrative Services, Financial and Assessment Section. 



	6.	That the Secretary shall mark this record as closed.
[image: ]
							BY THE COMMISSION,



							Rosemary Chiavetta
							Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  February 10, 2011

ORDER ENTERED:  February 10, 2011
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